
 

WORK SESSION 

October 09, 2023 
10:00 AM 

 
Albany-Dougherty Government Center 
222 Pine Ave, Room 100, Albany, GA 31701 

 

 
AGENDA 

The public will also have access to the live meeting by accessing the Dougherty County Georgia 
Government Facebook page at facebook.com/Dougherty.ga.us or viewing the public 
government access channel (Channel 16). 

1. Call the meeting to order by Chairman Lorenzo Heard. 

2. Roll Call. 

3. Minutes. 

a. Minutes of the September 18th Regular Meeting and September 25th Work Session. 

4. Delegations (The Commission will hear comments on those items pertaining to Dougherty 
County for which a public hearing has not been held or scheduled. Please be brief, to the 
point, and considerate of time for others). 

a. Margaret Halbrook, Interim County Extension Coordinator, is present to update the 
Commission with the Quarterly Report. 

b. Public Works Director Chuck Mathis is present to provide an update on the ASU 
Downtown Connector Trail. 

c. Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks and County Attorney Alex Shalishali are 
present to provide an update on the Ordinance for Vegetation Control.  Staff is seeking 
direction on how to proceed. 

5. Zoning. 

a. King Randall, owner and applicant, (23-053) requests to rezone a 24.74-acre vacant 
parcel from R-2 (Single-Family Residential District) to C-8 (Commercial Recreational 
District). The rezoning would allow for the construction of a multipurpose facility. The 
property is at 2901 Barnaby Drive. The Planning Commission recommends 
denial.  Angel Gray, Deputy Planning Director will address.  The Public Hearing and 
Action on this item are scheduled for the October 16, 2023 Regular Meeting. 

  

1



b. Orchard Machinery Corporation, applicant and JTMF LLC, owner, (23-064) request to 
rezone 2-acres from C-1 (Neighborhood Mixed-Use Business District) to C-3 
(Commercial District). The rezoning would allow for the operation of a commercial 
parts and service business for orchard machinery. The property is at 2824 Gillionville 
Road. The property owner is  and the applicant is Orchard Machinery 
Corporation.  The Planning Commission recommends approval.  Angel Gray, Deputy 
Planning Director will address.  The Public Hearing and Action on this item are 
scheduled for the October 16, 2023 Regular Meeting. 

6. Purchases. 

a. Recommendation to purchase a 2016 Ford F250 Animal Control Vehicle for use by 
Dougherty County Police from Shumate Truck Center (Tampa, FL) in the amount of 
$45,800.  The purchase will meet the immediate need of the department and provide 
an additional vehicle for future use.  Funding is available in Contingency.  Assistant 
County Administrator Barry Brooks will address.  Captain Jason Hager is 
present.  Action on this item is scheduled for the Special Called Meeting. 

7. Additional Business. 

a. Recommendation to approve the Alcohol Application from MJT Management Group, 
Travis W. Williams licensee, at 1304 Williamsburg Road for Consumption- Liquor, 
Beer, and Wine.   The Albany-Dougherty Marshal’s Office recommends 
approval.  Deputy Marshal Marcus Mitchell, Code Enforcement Department, will 
address.   

b. Recommendation to renew the Rental Agreement between the Dougherty County 
Board of Commissioners and the State Properties Commission on behalf of the 
Department of Driver Services located at 2062 Newton Road, Albany, GA 31701. 
Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks and County Attorney Alex Shalishali will 
address. 

c. Recommendation from the Emergency Medical Services Department to apply for the 
FY 2024 EMS Trauma Related Equipment Reimbursement Grant through the Georgia 
Trauma Commission in the amount of $10,434.  This is a 100% grant with no local 
match.  EMS Director Sam Allen is present to address.   

8. Updates from the Assistant County Administrator. 

a. There will be a Special Called Meeting immediately following the Work Session. 

9. Updates from the County Attorney. 

10. Updates from the County Commission. 

11. Adjourn. 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, 
or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the ADA Coordinator at  
229-431-2121 promptly to allow the County to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

2



 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

September 18, 2023 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty Government 

Center on September 18, 2023.  Chairman Lorenzo Heard presided and called the meeting to order 

at 10:00 a.m.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray,  

Clinton Johnson, Ed Newsome, and Anthony Jones.  Also present were Assistant County 

Administrator Barry Brooks, County Attorney Alex Shalishali, County Clerk Jawahn Ware, and 

other staff.  The public and representatives of the media participated in person and via live 

streaming of the meeting on the County’s Facebook page and the government public access 

channel.   

 

After the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by the Chairman, he called for approval of the 

minutes for the August 21st Regular Meeting, August 21st Public Hearing, August 28th Special 

Called Meeting and August 28th Work Session. 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson, the minutes 

were unanimously approved.   

 

The Chairman recognized Bishop Frederick Williams, Chairman, the Voter Registration and 

Elections Board, to provide an update and address general matters for the Commission.  It was 

noted that only seven precincts were solely in the County.  Even though the upcoming election is 

municipal, all individuals are encouraged to vote.  The pay of workers and recruitment efforts were 

shared.  Currently, the Elections Board is still finalizing the location of early voting  

(Civic Center vs. the Candy Room).  Commissioner Gray suggested that the cost split with the 

City of Albany be reviewed because the City of Albany does receive funds from Spectrum for the 

use of the Civic Center.  As compared with others in the state, Dougherty County remits payment 

expeditiously.  However, Commissioner Edwards wanted the Assistant County Administrator, 

Board of Elections and Voter Registration Supervisor Ginger Nickerson to return to paying 

individuals the same day.  Measures for safety were discussed and other questions were answered. 

 

The Chairman opened up the public hearing for Track West Partners, Binh Dao, applicant and 

Willow Nook Park, LLC, owner (23-057) request to rezone 24.903 acres from C-3 (Commercial 

District) to RMHP (Mobile Home Park District). The rezoning would allow for the redevelopment 

of an existing mobile home park. The property is at 3501 Sylvester Hwy.  The Planning 

Commission recommended approval.  Paul Forgey, Planning Director addressed.  Commissioner 

Johnson questioned the location of the wetlands and the use of the holding pond.  In the past, there 

were flooding concerns for the residents.  Commissioner Jones shared that this location was higher 

up and there may not be a concern.  Bobby Donely who is the engineer representing the applicant 

Binh Dao addressed Commissioner Johnson’s concern by explaining the floodplain concerns.   

Mr. Dao answered many of Commissioner Gaines’ concerns regarding the National Standards.   

He mentioned that all the homes will be 2022 or newer and shared the owner's vision for the 

3

Item 3a.



neighborhood.  There being no additional comments regarding the proposed matter, the Chairman 

closed the public hearing. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance of the 

contract for the bid for drainage improvement services for Public Works from the lowest 

responsive and responsible bidder, Jim Boyd Construction, Inc. (Albany, GA) in the amount of 

$339,420.65 subject to execution by the Assistant County Administrator.  Funding is budgeted in 

SPLOST VII.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Commissioner Gray seconded the motion.  Under 

discussion, Commissioner Johnson asked for the locations and Engineer Manager Jeremy Brown 

addressed.  There being no further discussion, the motion for approval passed unanimously.  

Resolution 23-045 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL, ACCEPTANCE AND EXECUTION 

OF CONTRACT FOR THE BID FOR DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS 

FOR PUBLIC WORKS BETWEEN DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

AND JIM BOYD CONSTRUCTION, INC.; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS 

OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to contract with Advent Business Interiors (Leesburg, GA) 

to disassemble, stage on-site, and reassemble furniture for the Tax and Tag Office Renovation in 

the amount of $33,500.  A contractor is needed to honor existing warranties and to allow for the 

painting and installation of flooring when the furniture is disassembled.  The Commission 

approved the renovation in the September 11, 2023 Regular Meeting.  Funding is available in 

SPLOST VII.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the motion for 

approval passed unanimously.   

 

The Chairman called for consideration to purchase a Utility Terrain Vehicle (UTV) for EMS from 

State Contract GA #9999-001-SPD0000175-0005 through local dealer Flint Equipment Company 

(Leesburg, GA) in the amount of $21,434.27. EMS needs a UTV to be able to reach patients with 

medical trauma/emergencies in areas of the county that cannot be accessed by regular vehicles.  

Funding is budgeted in SPLOST VII.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Commissioner Gray seconded the motion.  Under 

discussion, Commissioner Gaines asked EMS Director Sam Allen why he did not procure two now 

if there is a need.  Mr. Allen shared that he would like to utilize grant funding for future purchases.  

In the interim, they will use a trailer to have the one ready to transport.  There being no further 

discussion, the motion for approval passed unanimously.   

 

4

Item 3a.



The Chairman called for consideration to purchase two Power-Pro MTS Mid Cots from sole source 

provider Stryker Medical (Chicago, IL) in the amount of $19,012.50 each for a total expenditure 

of $38,500.32, which includes shipping, for use by Dougherty County EMS.  Stryker Medical will 

be increasing prices by 3 to 5% effective October 1, 2023.  The recommended purchase of the 

available equipment will save the County over $10,000 and avoid paying the price increase.  

Funding is budgeted in SPLOST VII.  Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks addressed.  

EMS Director Sam Allen was present.  Mr. Brooks said that this will allow us to take advantage 

of cost savings.  He added that these were demo units with no issues and had full warranties.  

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Newsome, the motion 

for approval passed unanimously.   

 

The Chairman called for consideration to accept the following changes to accept the Health 

Benefits Plan Renewal for the 2024 Plan Year from the Insurance Review Committee (IRC):  

 

• Keep the current dental plan (low option) and add an additional dental plan (high option) 

that includes Type D (orthodontia/$2,000 lifetime max) services for employees.  

Current dental plan only has Type D services for dependent child(ren) up to age 19 with a 

$1,500 lifetime max.   

 

• Replace the current vision ($100 allowance) plan with the current vision ($130) buy-up 

plan as the low option, and add vision plan ($150) as the new buy-up option.   

 

• Add Supplemental Child Life Insurance (currently only have two options for basic child 

life 10k and 20k). 

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Commissioner Gray seconded the motion.  Under 

discussion, Commissioner Gaines asked if there were additional costs.  Mr. Brooks said that cost 

was very insignificant to employees or Dougherty County.  If he recalls, it may have been under a 

dollar.  There being no further discussion, the motion for approval passed unanimously.   

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for acceptance and execution of 

the Memorandum of Agreement between the Albany/Dougherty County Emergency Management 

Agency and the Marine Corps Logistics Base (MCLB) regarding use of the Emergency Operations 

Center (EOC).  The agreement allows MCLB to utilize the EOC in the event that MCLB Albany 

can no longer occupy the primary or alternate EOC on the installation to support on-scene response 

during and escalating incidents. 

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the motion 

for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 23-046 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL, ACCEPTANCE AND 

EXECUTION OF 

5

Item 3a.



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE 

ALBANY/DOUGHERTY COUNTY MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

AND MARINE CORPS LOGISTICS BASE 

REGARDING USE OF EMERGENCY OPERATIONS CENTER; 

REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance of the 

recommendation from the Public Works Committee to accept the revised Traffic Calming Policy 

effective October 1, 2023.   

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Commissioner Edwards seconded the motion.  Under 

discussion, Commissioner Edwards asked Mr. Brown to recap the process for the petition.   

He later asked for the revisions to be made to the process.  Commissioner Newsome explained that 

the suggestions from Commissioner Edwards were against state law; to which Commissioner 

Edwards disagreed.  There being no further discussion, the motion for approval passed with six 

ayes and one nay by Commissioner Edwards.  Resolution 23-047 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE 

RECOMMENDATION FROM THE PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 

TO ACCEPT THE REVISED TRAFFIC CALMING POLICY; 

REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR 

PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 

After the vote, Mr. Brown clarified for Commissioner Gaines that this is a local policy and the 

initial language may have included state wording.  Chairman Heard and Commissioner Gray 

provided comments. 

 

The Chairman called for the zoning consideration of Track West Partners, Binh Dao, applicant 

and Willow Nook Park, LLC, owner (23-057) request to rezone 24.903 acres from C-3 

(Commercial District) to RMHP (Mobile Home Park District). The rezoning would allow for the 

redevelopment of an existing mobile home park. The property is at 3501 Sylvester Hwy.   

The Planning Commission recommended approval. 

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson, the motion 

for approval passed unanimously.  The zoning resolution reads as follows: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE ZONING REGULATIONS 

AND MAP OF THE UNINCORPORATED AREA OF 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA (RESOLUTION NO. 212, 

6

Item 3a.



AS AMENDED) SO AS TO CHANGE THE STATUS OF THE 

PROPERTY HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED. 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia, and IT IS 

HEREBY RESOLVED by authority of same: 

 

SECTION I:  That from and after the passage of this Resolution, the official Zoning Regulations 

and Map of the unincorporated area of Dougherty County, adopted December 1, 1969, as amended, 

be, and the same are hereinafter described as follows: 

 

CHANGE FROM:     C-3 (Commercial) Mobile Home Park  

 

TO:       R-MHP (Mobile Home Park District) 

 

OWNER/APPLICANT:    Willow Nook Park, LLC (Owner) 

Teack West Partners, (Binh Dao) (Applicant)                                                 

 

LOCATION:      3501 Sylvester Road  

 

ALL THAT CERTAIN TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND SITUATE LYING AND BEING ALL 

OF PART OF LAND LOT 86 OF THE FIRST LAND DISTRICT, BEING IN DOUGHERTY 

COUNTY, GEORGIA AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  

 

COMMENCE AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST RIGHT-OF-WAY OF BRANCH 

ROAD AND THE NO1TH RIGHT-OF-WAY OF U.S. ROUTE 82 BUSINESS AND GO 

NORTH 82 DEGREES 58 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-

WAY OF U.S. ROUTE 82 BUSINESS A DISTANCE OF 529.89 FEET; GO THENCE 1188. 70 

FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST, ALONG THE 

NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY OF U.S. ROUTE 82 BUSINESS, HAVING A RADIUS OF 5804.58 

FEET, A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 88 DEGREES 53 MINUTES 14 SECONDS EAST 

AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 1186.62 FEET; GO THENCE SOUTH 85 DEGREES 14 

MINUTES 46 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY OF U.S. ROUTE 82 

BUSINESS A DISTANCE OF 186.85 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. FROM THIS 

POINT GO NORTH 01 DEGREES 35 MINUTES 10 SECONDS EAST A DISTANCE OF 

1802.52 FEET; GO THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 50 SECONDS EAST A 

DISTANCE OF 793.03 FEET; GO THENCE SOUTH 05 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 22 

SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 1338.89 FEET; GO THENCE NORTH 80 DEGREES 54 

MINUTES 44 SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 407.29 FEET; GO THENCE SOUTH 39 

DEGREES 32 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 25.79 FEET; GO THENCE 

186.84 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHEAST, HAVING 

A RADIUS OF 305.00 FEET, A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 21 DEGREES 59 MINUTES 

49 SECONDS WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 183.93 FEET; GO THENCE SOUTH 04 

DEGREES 26 MINUTES 51 SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 313.39 FEET; GO THENCE 

SOUTH 01 DEGREE 35 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 30.05 FEET TO 

THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY OF U.S. ROUTE 82 BUSINESS; GO THENCE NORTH 85 

7

Item 3a.



DEGREES 14 MINUTES 46 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 

U.S. ROUTE 82 BUSINESS A DISTANCE OF 200.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  

 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL CONTAINS 24.903 ACRES. 

 

SECTION II: That all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith be and the same 

hereby are repealed.  

 

       _______________________________ 

       CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

CLERK 

 

APPROVED: September 18, 2023 

 

Mr. Brooks shared that there will be siren tests in the County and a notice will be sent to the public 

which will include locations and pictures. Commissioner Gaines would like an update on the 

morgue at the next meeting.  Commissioner Jones wanted an update on Putney Park and shared 

concerns about the park that replaced Paradise Village.  He added that it does not meet what the 

Board was told and requested the Board revisit the topic.  Commissioner Edwards asked that  

Mr. Forgey look at this and provide updates on the buffer and completion.   

 

There being no further business to discuss the Commission the meeting adjourned at  

11:19 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST: 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

8

Item 3a.



DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

 

September 25, 2023 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty Government 

Center on September 25, 2023.  Chairman Lorenzo Heard presided and called the meeting to order 

at 10:00 a.m.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards, Russell Gray, Clinton Johnson, 

Anthony Jones and Ed Newsome.  Also present were Assistant County Administrator  

Barry Brooks, County Attorney Alex Shalishali, County Clerk Jawahn Ware and other staff.  The 

public and representatives of the media participated in person and via live streaming of the meeting 

on the County’s Facebook page and the government public access channel.  Commissioner  

Gloria Gaines was absent. 

 

After the invocation by Chairman Heard, he asked the Commission to review the September 11th 

Regular Meeting and September 11th Work Session. 

 

The Chairman recognized citizen Gloria Baker to accept the proclamation recognizing  

September as Alopecia Awareness Month.  A video regarding Ms. Baker’s story and an overview 

of Alopecia was shown.  Gloria Baker, Yvette Green, and Juanita Henderson, all impacted by 

Alopecia, provided comments to the Board.  The proclamation was read and pictures were taken 

and the Chairman stated that a proclamation would be provided to the other ladies.  The 

proclamation reads as follows: 

 

ALOPECIA AWARENESS MONTH 

WHEREAS, Alopecia is an autoimmune condition that attacks hair follicles and causes hair loss. 

Alopecia can affect hair on your scalp, eyebrows, or body. Hair may come out in small or large 

patches. It is estimated to affect 6.8 million people in the United States. Anyone can develop 

Alopecia, but it often starts in childhood; 

 

WHEREAS, a significant number of citizens of Dougherty County currently live with Alopecia 

and have formed support groups to share their experiences and provide resources to one another; 

 

WHEREAS, we recognize Dougherty County citizen Gloria Baker, who has lived with Alopecia 

since 2003 and is a member of a support group that assists women and children in Dougherty 

County suffering from Alopecia, requested that the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, 

Georgia, declare the month of September Alopecia Awareness Month; 

 

WHEREAS, Alopecia Awareness Month is a month-long celebration in recognition of all those 

affected by different types of Alopecia. 

 

WHEREAS, Dougherty County Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia, declares 

September Alopecia Awareness Month, which marks a time to learn more about and support 

people living with it. 

9

Item 3a.



 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, 

Georgia, to recognize, and it is hereby proclaimed by the Authority of the same that September 

shall be recognized as Alopecia Awareness Month.  

 This the 25th day of September 2023 

       

        

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF  

      DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

       

     BY:____________________________________ 

      LORENZO L. HEARD, Chairman 

Dougherty County Commission 

 

 

__________________________________ 

VICTOR EDWARDS, District 2 

Dougherty County Commission 

 

The Chairman called for a recommendation to accept the quote from the lowest vendor meeting 

specifications, Service Pros (Leesburg, GA), to replace the cooling tower fill at the Dougherty 

County Health Department and the Albany Dougherty Government Center in the amount of 

$82,252.01.  Funding is available in SPLOST VII.  Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks 

and Facilities Management Director Heidi Hailey addressed. 

 

The Chairman called for a recommendation to purchase four 2023 Ford Maverick Pickup Trucks 

from state contract vendor Wade Ford (Smyrna, GA) for $26,650 each for a total expenditure of 

$106,600.  Funding is available in SPLOST VII.  Assistant County Administrator Barry Brooks 

and Public Works Director Chuck Mathis addressed.  Unrelated to the purchase, Mr. Mathis 

addressed the questions of Commissioner Johnson regarding fleet management.  Commissioner 

Johnson would like to have a conversation with Mr. Brooks on the fleet management program 

later.  Mr. Mathis added that now it is more efficient to do it in-house. 

 

The Chairman called for a recommendation to accept the resolution from ACCG urging the 

Governor and General Assembly of Georgia to continue efforts to reform and improve mental 

health services for the citizens of Georgia.  Commissioner Clinton Johnson addressed.  

Commissioner Johnson shared that all counties were asked to adopt a resolution to leverage our 

voices regarding mental health.  Typically, counties are on one of the “first lines” for mental health. 

 

The Chairman called for a recommendation to accept the resolution declaring 400 Highland Ave 

as surplus and authorize the sale of same.  County Attorney Alex Shalishali and Public Works 

Director Chuck Mathis addressed.  This property had generated interest in the past and Public 

Works shared that there is no current or future use.  Commissioner Johnson wanted the Board to 

consider the historical value.  Mr. Mathis mentioned that it was the previous mental health 

building.  Mr. Brooks shared that the process would begin with surplussing the property because 

10

Item 3a.



the City of Albany shared that they may have an interest in disposing of adjacent parcels.  

However, a resolution would allow the Board to take appropriate action and could be discussed in 

an Executive Session on what would be the best disposal.  Commissioner Newsome suggested that 

the City of Albany may be interested because they own some parcels.  Commissioner Johnson 

added that it may be best to declare the property surplus, slow down and consider the value with 

the redevelopment of the Harlem District.  Mr. Brooks said that options will be explored for the 

best use. 

 

The Chairman called for a recommendation of the proposed board appointments.  County Clerk 

Jawahn Ware addressed. 

 

Citizen Transportation Committee – There is one appointment with a three–year unexpired 

term ending December 31, 2025. There is one new applicant: Perry Ford, Jr.  There is one 

vacancy.   

 

Flood Plain Management Review Board – There is one County appointment with a three–

year unexpired term ending December 31, 2024.  There is one new applicant: Perry Ford, 

Jr.  There are two vacancies.   

 

Mr. Brooks shared that an educational brochure was created with the City of Albany pertaining 

to TSPLOST and will be distributed appropriately soon.  A Finance Committee Meeting will be 

held soon to discuss some concerns posed by Finance Committee Chairman Clinton Johnson.  Mr. 

Brooks also provided an update on an incident that occurred last week from an “auditor” with the 

Georgia Transparency Group.  Mr. Brooks mentioned the positive response taken by our staff and 

the Sheriff’s Office.  Commissioner Edwards asked for an update on the property on Holly Drive 

and Mr. Brooks addressed.  Commissioner Johnson gave kudos to Public Information Officer 

Phyllis Banks and requested that more videos be done on “forward facing” projects and staff.  

Commissioner Gray reechoed the kudos provided by Mr. Brooks regarding actions by our law 

enforcement and staff.  Commissioner Jones reemphasized his concerns regarding the trailer park 

from the previous meeting and wanted Code Enforcement to investigate.  Chairman Heard echoed 

some positive sentiments and requested to have more videos.  

 

There being no further business to discuss the Commission the meeting adjourned at  

10:49 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST: 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

11

Item 3a.



October 9, 2023 County Comm. Work 

Session

1

ASU-Downtown 

Connector Trail

Update September 2023

• Contractor:  HTS Construction

• Contract Amount: $1,538,770

• Approximately 1.3 miles

• 1,700 LF Remaining left to pour

• Weather permitting, hope to be 
substantially complete end of 
October or early November

1

2

12

Item 4b.



October 9, 2023 County Comm. Work 

Session

2

Connection @ Broad Ave. Bridge

Beginning the descent down the hill

3

4

13

Item 4b.



October 9, 2023 County Comm. Work 

Session

3

Under the Broad Ave Bridge

Through the 

woods 

between 

the bridges

5

6

14

Item 4b.



October 9, 2023 County Comm. Work 

Session

4

Incomplete segment leading up to the berm behind ASU

Incomplete 

northern section 

on berm 

7

8

15

Item 4b.



October 9, 2023 County Comm. Work 

Session

5

Completed 

portion 

looking 

north along 

berm

Passing by the baseball field and ROTC building

9

10

16

Item 4b.



October 9, 2023 County Comm. Work 

Session

6

Trail connection 

at College Drive

Southern trail termination 

point at ASU parking lot

11

12

17

Item 4b.



222 PINE AVENUE | SUITE 540 | ALBANY, GEORGIA 31701 | 229.431.2121 | dougherty.ga.us  

 

   Mr. Barry G. Brooks, MPA  
Assistant County Administrator  

  

  

  

  

                           

DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

ADMINISTRATION 

         

  

  Agenda Item  

       
Date:                           October 4, 2023       

  

Meeting Date:  October 9, 2023          

  

Subject/Title:                Discussion concerning the Vegetation Control Ordinance    

  

Presented for:              Direction    

  

Presenters:            Commissioner Victor Edwards 

 Assistant Administrator Barry Brooks 

                                    County Attorney Alex Shalishali  

  

Statement of Issue  

Consider the need to revise the Vegetation Control Ordinance to expand the types of vegetation 

subject to enforcement. 

 

History/Facts and Issues  

Article IV sec. 2-14-74, addresses the regulation of vegetation throughout the unincorporated 

areas of Dougherty County. Such control, abatement and subsequent enforcement of violations 

are limited to properties in the County that are less than five (5) acres in size. The Ordinance 

defines vegetation as “…any weeds, grasses or plants other than trees, brushes, flowers or 

other ornamental plants growing to a height exceeding twelve (12) inches…” Further, the 

Ordinance states, “(2) Garden Flowers, vegetables, cultivated agricultural crops, ornamental 

shrubbery and trees shall not be considered weeds, grass or vegetation within the meaning of 

this section.” 

 

Recommended Action  

Direct staff to review and revise, consistent with best-practices, County Ordinance Article IV. – 

VEGETATION CONTROL 

 

Funding Source 

N/A  

 

  

18

Item 4c.



Sec. 2-14-74. - Vegetation control.  

(a)  Generally.  

(1)  Any weeds such as jimson, burdock, ragweed, thistle cocklebur or other weeds of a like kind 
found growing in any lot or tract of land in the county, and any weeds, grasses or plants other 
than trees, brushes, flowers or other ornamental plants growing to a height exceeding twelve (12) 
inches anywhere in the county are hereby declared to be a nuisance, subject to abatement as 
provided in this article.  

(2)  Garden flowers, vegetables, cultivated agricultural crops, ornamental shrubbery and trees shall 
not be considered weeds, grass or vegetation within the meaning of this section.  

(3)  The provision of this article shall apply only to property located within subdivisions of record filed 
in the office of the clerk of the superior court of the county and to other county lots, however 
divided, and having a size of five (5) acres or less.  

(b)  Height permitted.  

(1)  It shall be unlawful for the owner, lessee, tenant or other person having the possession and 
control of real property, or responsible for its management, maintenance or upkeep, to permit the 
growth and accumulation of weeds, grass or other vegetation to a height in excess of twelve (12) 
inches above the ground within fifty (50) feet of any building.  

(2)  It shall be unlawful for the owner, lessee, tenant or other person having the possession and 
control of real property, or responsible for its management, upkeep or maintenance, to allow 
weeds, grass, or other vegetation to grow or accumulate to a height in excess of twelve (12) 
inches above the ground within twenty-five (25) feet of a public way or of the property of another.  

(c)  Notice to abate.  

(1)  In the event of a violation of this article, the owner of the property shall be given notice to remove 
such excess growth within seven (7) days from the receipt of the notice. Such notice may be 
served personally, or may be served by registered or certified mail, or by attaching a copy of the 
notice to the principal entrance of the dwelling, and shall contain a description of the location of 
the property upon which such condition exists.  

(2)  Where notice is given by registered or certified mail, the depositing of such notice in the United 
States Mail by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the owner of the 
property at the address shown on the latest ad valorem tax return of such owner for such property 
shall constitute sufficient service of such notice, where the return receipt shall be duly returned 
signed by the addressee or someone residing on the premises, or where the return receipt or 
other notification from the federal postal service indicates that the notice was refused, or that 
there was a refusal to sign the return receipt or that deliver of the notice at such address could 
not be made.  

(d)  Abatement.  

(1)  Upon the failure to comply within the required time by the owner of the property when properly 
notified, the county, its agents or assigns, is authorized to enter upon the property and cut and 
remove the weeds, grass and vegetation.  

(2)  The building official of the county shall assess the cost for the work provided, including 
administrative costs and attorneys fees, and shall promptly send to the owner of the property a 
statement of account demanding payment thereof on or before a date named in such demand, 
which shall not be earlier than fifteen (15) days nor later than forty-five (45) days after payment 
to the contractor.  

(3)  If payment shall not have been made on or before the date named, the building official shall issue 
a notice directed to the owner of the property notifying such owner to show cause before him at 
a time and place and on a date named therein why execution should not issue against the property 
for its approved amount.  

19

Item 4c.



(4)  If it shall appear at such hearing that the property was in violation of this article, that the notice 
required was given, that the work was performed and the costs assessed are accurate and that 
the county has not been reimbursed, then execution shall issue for such amount, and shall be 
executed in the same manner as tax executions are executed.  

(5)  If the owner of the property is unknown, or cannot be located, notice shall be published once a 
week for four (4) weeks in the legal organ for Dougherty County, Georgia, which notice shall be 
addressed "To Whom It May Concern," shall describe with reasonable particularity the property 
involved, a statement of the amount due for the removal of the weeds, grass or other vegetation, 
and shall notify all persons interested to show cause before the chief finance officer at a time and 
place and on a date named in the notice why execution should not issue in rem against the 
property for such amount. In such event, subsection (4) will apply, but the execution shall issue 
against the property in rem.  

(Res. No. 92-051, § 1, 11-2-92)  

20

Item 4c.



 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Date:       October 5, 2023 
 

To:          Dougherty County Board of Commissioners  

From:       Albany-Dougherty Planning Commission 

Subject:    23-053 (Rezoning) 2901 Barnaby Dr 
 
King Randall (23-053) has submitted an application to the Albany Dougherty Planning 

Commission requesting that the Official Zoning Map of Albany, Georgia, be amended to 

rezone a 24.74-acre vacant parcel from R-2 (Single-Family Residential District) to C-8 

(Commercial Recreational District). The rezoning would allow for the construction of a 

multi-purpose facility. The property is at 2901 Barnaby Drive (00204/00001/23B). The 

property owner/applicant is King Randall. District 2 

William Geer offered a motion to deny; Art Brown seconded the motion. 
 
Motion was approved 4-3-1 with the following votes: 
 
Sanford Hillsman          Tie or Quorum 

Aaron Johnson           No 

Jimmy Hall            No 

William Geer            Yes 

Charles Ochie          Abstain   

Helen Young   Yes 

Yvonne Jackson   Yes 

Art Brown             Yes  

Willie Simmons                 No 

                          

                          P L A N N I N G & D E V E L O P M E N T S E R V I C E S 
 

P.O. Box 447 Albany, GA 31702 | Phone: 229.438.3901 | Fax: 229.438.3965 | www.albanyga.gov 

21

Item 5a.

http://www.albanyga.gov/


STAFF ANALYSIS AND REPORT 
APPLICATION #23-053 REZONING 

 

 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: King Randall (Owner & Applicant) 

 
LOCATION:     2901 Barnaby   
      Tax Parcel 00204/00001/23B 
CURRENT ZONING/USE:   

Zoning:    R-2 (Single-Family Residential District) 
Use:     Vacant-Undeveloped 24.74-acre Parcel 

PROPOSED ZONING/USE:   
Zoning: C-8 (Commercial Recreation District) 
Use:     Multipurpose Recreational Facility - Private 

ZONING/ADJACENT LAND USE:  
North: Zoning:    R-2 (Single-Family Residential District)  

Land Use:   Residential  
 South: Zoning   R-2 (Single-Family Residential District) 
  Land Use:    Residential 

West: Zoning:   R-2 (Single-Family Residential District)  
Land Use:   Residential & School  

East: Zoning:    R-2 (Single-Family Residential District) 
  Land Use:   Residential  
 
 

22

Item 5a.



MEETING INFORMATION:   
Planning Commission: 10/5/2023, 2:00 P.M., Government Center, 

222 Pine Avenue, Rm. 100 
Public Hearing: 10/16/2023, 8:30 A.M., Government Center, 

222 Pine Avenue, Rm. 100 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve with conditions 
 
 
BASIC INFORMATION 
 
The applicant requests to rezone a vacant 24.74-acre parcel from R-2 (Single-Family 
Residential District) to C-8 (Commercial Recreation District). The rezoning would allow for 
the development of parks and recreational facilities that will be privately operated by the X 
for Boys School as a Multipurpose Recreational Facility. The application was presented 
before the Planning Commission on September 7, 2023, and the Planning Commission 
voted to Table a decision for recommendation upon review of a proposed site layout until 
October 5, 2023. The applicant has provided a site layout for specific uses.  
 
PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
This location is a 24.74-acre undeveloped parcel. The property is not located within the 
100-year floodplain.  
 
RELEVANT ZONING HISTORY 
 
Based on reviewing the past zoning maps, the area has maintained its original R-2 Zoning 
since Dougherty County adopted zoning in 1969.  
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Listed below are several issues for consideration in evaluating this rezoning application. 
 
1. Will the rezoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 

development of adjacent and nearby property? 
 
The proposed development is not for commercial use but for recreational use associated 
with school-aged pupils. The surrounding development of adjacent properties is residential 
in use. However, the proposed facility will not be open to the public. It will only be used 
for the X Boys Life Prep Non-Profit program students. Because the use of the facilities will 
be limited to program students, it should be compatible with the residential surroundings.  

 
 
2.  Will the rezoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent or 

nearby property? 
 

23

Item 5a.



The proposal is for a multipurpose recreation development. The rezoning would change 
the use, allowing for parks and recreational facilities that will be privately operated 
(Multipurpose Recreational Facility). The facility will only be used by participants of the 
owner's non-profit. This should have a minor impact on the surrounding neighborhoods. 
The non-profit will provide transportation to the facility with program vehicles, and there 
would be no significant impact on traffic flow entering and exiting Barnaby. Barnaby 
provides ingress and egress to the Southgate Subdivision.  
Note, however, that the parking lot, as depicted on the site plan, is designed for over 100 
cars. An administrative variance to reduce the parking could be applied for and would be 
favorably considered. The lighting of the outdoor sports fields and parking lot could also 
impact the neighborhood if not appropriately designed.  
 
3.  Does the property to be affected by the rezoning proposal have a reasonable economic 

use as currently zoned? 
 
The existing use is a vacant parcel zoned for single-family residential development. The 
property has a reasonable economic use as it is currently zoned. However, few residential 
subdivisions have been built in Dougherty County in the past decade.   
 
4.  Will the rezoning proposal result in a use that will or could cause excessive or 

burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities, or schools? 
 
• Impact on Utilities: The proposed use should not impact utilities.  
• Impact on the School System: The proposed use should not impact the school 

system.  
• Impact on Transportation Network: Staff estimates that the effect of the rezoning 

on the surrounding transportation network would be impacted as follows:  
 
Trip Generation: Planning cannot determine traffic generation since the applicant has no 
confirmed proposed use other than multipurpose. The applicant has provided their intent 
is to develop a family-oriented facility. A specific site plan indicating the location and size 
of the various uses has not been provided. Staff provides the trip generation estimates 
should the applicant be considering a Recreational Community Center as follows: 
 
Based on Trip Generation's 11th Edition,  

• Multipurpose Recreational Facility would generate approximately 8.56 daily trips for 
a 1,000 sq. ft building. The building is shown to be 35,000 square feet which could 
result in approximately 300 trips per day.  

 
AADT: Lily Pond Rd. had an Average Daily Traffic (AADT) count of 1,360 in 2022. 
Information is not available for Traffic Capacity. 
Martin Luther King Jr. Drive had an Average Daily Traffic (AADT) Count of 2,820 in 2022. 
 

24

Item 5a.



Road Improvements: According to the FY 2024-2027 Transportation 
Improvement Program and the Dougherty Area Regional Transportation Study 
2045, no state or federally-funded projects are proposed for the area. 
 
Road Classifications: Streets that provide access to the subject property are classified 
accordingly:  
 

• Barnaby is classified as a Local Road. 
• Martin Luther King Drive is classified as a Minor Arterial  
• Lily Pond Rd. is classified as a Minor Arterial  

 
Public Transit Routes: Albany Transit System does not serve this area. 
 
Accident Information: Planning Staff have run accident reports to provide data for the 
immediate area. Reports indicate nine accidents occurred from 2022 to 2023. Of the nine 
accidents, none were life-threatening or fatal.  
 
Proposed Driveway/Parking Plan: The applicant states the program participants will 
only be transported by program vehicles. The driveway access will be from Barnaby. The 
site plan shows over 100 parking spaces.  
 
5.  Is the rezoning proposal in conformity with the policy and intent of the Albany-

Dougherty Comprehensive Plan for Development (2026)?  
 

The Albany-Dougherty Comprehensive Plan for Development (2026) does not provide a 
future development policy and intent for this area. The Future Land Use Map recommends 
low-density residential adjacent to a manufacturing district to the south. The proposal is 
not in conformity with the Future Land Use Map.    
 
6.  Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and development of 

the property that provide grounds for approval or disapproval of the rezoning proposal 
as submitted? 

 
The staff has not identified further changing conditions affecting the use and development 
of the property that provide grounds for approval or disapproval of the rezoning proposal 
as submitted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
A site plan submitted on Friday, September 29, 2023, prompted more staff questions. The 
owner responded to our questions on Monday, October 2, which are attached. If the 
Planning Commission approves this rezoning request, staff recommends that it be 
conditioned on a significant reduction in parking and that all exterior lighting be designed 
in a way that will not impact the residential neighborhood.  

 
 

25

Item 5a.



 19
0' -

 0" 

 19
5' -

 0"
 

 200' - 0
" 

 1
80

' -
 0

" 

 1
85

' -
 0

" 

4° 56' 49"
301.42'

S E

5° 06' 06"
435.46'

N W

89
° 

59
' 4

6"
61

4.
61

'
N

W

15° 21' 44"

359.28'S
E

12° 26' 42"

388.21'S

E
0° 53' 15"
127.34'

S W

11° 37' 27"278.91'

S
W

11° 37' 27"249.10'

S
W

0° 53' 15"
13.95'

S W

89
° 

07
' 3

1"
22

8.
77

'
S

E

89
° 

07
' 3

1"
59

.4
6'

S
E

89° 08' 58"
120.00'

S E

0° 52' 00"
539.97'

S W

89
° 

07
' 4

6"
29

7.
25

'
S

E

0° 52' 47"
1820.87'

N E10' - 0"

20
' -

 0
"

10' - 0"

20' - 0"

35' - 0"

10' - 0"

10
' -

 0
"

BARNABY DR.

M
ARTIN LU

TH
ER KING

 JR.  DR.

N

LOT 2A
TOTAL PROPERTY AREA: 24.7 ACRES

ASTORIA DR.

TOTAL BUILDING AREA: 35,231.2 [FT.2]

PARKING SURFACE AREA:
140,000 [FT.2]
NUMBER OF SPACES:
192

www.autodesk.com/revit

Scale

Date

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

 1" = 80'-0"

10
/3

/2
02

3 
10

:3
5:

18
 A

M

C101

SITE PLAN 1

X SCHOOL FOR
BOYS

NEW LIFE PREP

K. RANDALL
J. TURNER
9/29/2023

0001

 1" = 80'-0"
1 Site Plan

No. Description Date

26

Item 5a.



 19
0' -

 0" 

 195' - 0
" 

 200' - 0" 

20
0' 

- 0
"

90' - 0"

45
' -

 0
"

BARNABY DR.

M
ARTIN LU

TH
ER KING

 JR.  DR.

N

ASTORIA DR.

274' - 0"

19
2' 

- 0
"

W09

W09
CW03

CW03

CW03

CW03W09

W09

W09

P07 W09

CW03

P07

P07

W09

CW03

CW03

CW03

CW03

P07P07

P07

56' - 2 3/8"

68' - 0"

CW03

CW03

P07

FIELD
CW03

DROP OFF / PICK UP

www.autodesk.com/revit

Scale

Date

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

 1" = 60'-0"

10
/3

/2
02

3 
10

:3
5:

18
 A

M

C102

SITE PLAN 2

X SCHOOL FOR
BOYS

NEW LIFE PREP

Checker
Author

9/29/2023
0001

 1" = 60'-0"
1 Site Plan

No. Description Date

Wall Schedule
Type Mark Width Description

CW03 Curtain Wall w/ Glazing
P07 0' - 6 1/8" Metal Studs with one layer of Gypsum Wall Board (GWB) each side, Interior Function
W09 1' - 1 7/8" Metal Studs with Concrete Masonry Units (CMU) and Brick over sheathing on exterior and Gypsum Wall Board (GWB) on interior, Exterior Function

27

Item 5a.



FF
200' - 0"

T.O.W. BUILDING A
230' - 0"

T.O.W. STAIRWELL
239' - 0"

T.O.W. GYM
245' - 0"

2F
215' - 0"

T.O.W. BUILDING B
225' - 0"

10
' -

 0
"

14
' -

 0
"

30
' -

 0
"

1' 
- 0

"
 1/16" = 1'-0"

1 South Architectural Building Elevation

www.autodesk.com/revit

Scale

Date

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

 1/16" = 1'-0"

10
/3

/2
02

3 
10

:3
5:

19
 A

M

C103

SOUTH ELEVATION

X SCHOOL FOR
BOYS

NEW LIFE PREP

Checker
Author

9/29/2023
0001

No. Description Date

28

Item 5a.



FF
200' - 0"

T.O.W. BUILDING A
230' - 0"

T.O.W. STAIRWELL
239' - 0"

T.O.W. GYM
245' - 0"

2F
215' - 0"

T.O.W. BUILDING B
225' - 0"

 1/16" = 1'-0"
1 West Architectural Building Elevation

www.autodesk.com/revit

Scale

Date

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

Consultant 
Address
Address
Address
Phone

 1/16" = 1'-0"

10
/3

/2
02

3 
10

:3
5:

19
 A

M

C104

WEST ELEVATION

X SCHOOL FOR
BOYS

NEW LIFE PREP

Checker
Author

9/29/2023
0001

No. Description Date

29

Item 5a.



30

Item 5a.



31

Item 5a.



32

Item 5a.



33

Item 5a.



34

Item 5a.



35

Item 5a.



36

Item 5a.



37

Item 5a.



38

Item 5a.



39

Item 5a.



40

Item 5a.



41

Item 5a.



42

Item 5a.



43

Item 5a.



44

Item 5a.



 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Date:       October 5, 2023 
 

To:          Dougherty County Board of Commissioners  

From:       Albany-Dougherty Planning Commission 

Subject:    23-064 (Rezoning) 2824 Gillionville Rd 
 
Orchard Machinery Corporation (23-064) has submitted an application to the 

Albany Dougherty Planning Commission requesting that the Official Zoning Map of 

Albany, Georgia, be amended to rezone 2-acres from C-1 (Neighborhood Mixed-Use 

Business District) to C-3(Commercial District). The rezoning would allow for the 

operation of a commercial parts and service business for orchard machinery. The 

property is at 2824 Gillionville Road (00306/00001/07G). The property owner is JTMF 

LLC, and the applicant is Orchard Machinery Corporation. District 5 

Art Brown offered a motion to approve; Charles Ochie seconded the motion. 
 
Motion was approved 7-1 with the following votes: 
 
Sanford Hillsman          Tie or Quorum 

Aaron Johnson           Yes 

Jimmy Hall            Yes 

William Geer            Yes 

Charles Ochie          Yes   

Helen Young   Yes 

Yvonne Jackson   Yes 

Art Brown             Yes  

Willie Simmons                 No 

                          

                          P L A N N I N G & D E V E L O P M E N T S E R V I C E S 
 

P.O. Box 447 Albany, GA 31702 | Phone: 229.438.3901 | Fax: 229.438.3965 | www.albanyga.gov 

45

Item 5b.

http://www.albanyga.gov/


STAFF ANALYSIS AND REPORT 
APPLICATION #23-064 REZONING 

 

 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: JTMF, LLC (Owner) 

Orchard Machinery Corporation (Applicant) 
 
LOCATION:     2824 Gillionville Road 
      Tax Parcel 00306/00001/07G 
CURRENT ZONING/USE:   

Zoning: C-1 (Neighborhood Mixed Use Business 
District) 

Use:     Vacant building/Offices 
PROPOSED ZONING/USE:   

Zoning: C-3 (Commercial District) 
Use:     Sale of parts/service equipment  

ZONING/ADJACENT LAND USE:  
North: Zoning: C-2 (General Mixed Use Business District)  
Land Use: Assisted Living Apartments 
 
South: Zoning            C-1 Neighborhood Mixed-Use Business District   
Land Use:     The Anchorage 
 
West: Zoning:            AG Agricultural District 
Land Use:                                           American Post 30 

46

Item 5b.



East: Zoning:             C-1 Neighborhood Mixed-Use Business District 
                                                Mixed Commercial Uses & C-3 Commercial 
District  
Land Use:                                          Park 
 
MEETING INFORMATION:   

Planning Commission: 10/05/2023, 2:00 P.M., Government Center, 
222 Pine Avenue, Rm. 100 

Public Hearing: 10/16/2023, 10:00 A.M., Government Center, 
222 Pine Avenue, Rm. 100 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval  
 
 
BASIC INFORMATION 
 
The applicant requests to rezone an approximately 2-acre developed parcel from C-1 
(Neighborhood Mixed-Use District) to C-3 (Commercial District). The rezoning would 
allow a commercial operation to sell orchard machinery parts and service equipment. 
The property is located at 2824 Gillionville Road.   
 
PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
This location is a 2-acre parcel. The property is served by public water and sanitary 
sewer. Access is provided from Gillionville Road. The southernmost portion of the parcel 
is located in the AE 100-Year Flood area and should not adversely affect the proposed 
zoning.  
 
RELEVANT ZONING HISTORY 
 
Based on reviewing the past zoning maps, the area was initially zoned C-1 when the 
City of Albany adopted zoning in 1970. The Zoning Classification has not changed from 
the initial Zoning Classification of C-1.  
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Listed below are several issues for consideration in evaluating this rezoning application. 
 
1. Will the rezoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 

development of adjacent and nearby property? 
 

The proposed use of retail parts and equipment service is compatible with the 
surrounding land use. Adjacent properties on Gillionville Road to the east and south 

47

Item 5b.



consist of Neighborhood Mixed-Use Business Districts. Agricultural District to the 
west and General Mixed-Use Business District to the north.  
 

2.  Will the rezoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent 
or nearby property? 
 
The proposed use should not adversely affect adjacent or nearby properties' existing 
use or usability. The owner states that the hours of operation are Monday through 
Saturday from 7:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Closed on Sundays with minimal traffic -
usually a few customers each day and slightly more during harvest seasons. Paved 
parking is located in the rear for machinery waiting to be serviced. All machinery will 
be gated with minimal visibility from Gillionville Road. No machinery will be parked in 
front of the building. Service work will be inside the rear area of the building with 
minimal noise.  

 
3.  Does the property to be affected by the rezoning proposal have a reasonable 

economic use as currently zoned? 
 

The subject property has reasonable economic use with its current use C-1. The C-1 
district allows for a Neighborhood Mixed Use Business District, which provides 
offices of any type, eating and drinking establishments, and retail stores, not over 
8000 sq ft.  
 
The proposed rezoning will allow intense commercial uses, such as trucking 
companies, auto parts sales, and maintenance. The proposed zoning allows outside 
storage, however does not allow for the storage of junk, scrap, salvaged, or junked 
vehicles. 
 

4.  Will the rezoning proposal result in a use that will or could cause excessive or 
burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities, or schools? 

 
• Impact on Utilities: The proposed use will not impact utilities.  
• Impact on the School System: The proposed use will not impact the school 

system. 
• Impact on Transportation Network: Staff estimates that the effect of the 

rezoning on the surrounding transportation network would be minimal and as 
follows:  

 
Trip Generation: Based on Trip Generation's 11th Edition, a Retail store would 
generate approximately 44 daily trips for a 1,000 sq. ft building. The subject building is 
2400 sq. ft., resulting in approximately 88 daily trips. 
 
AADT: Gillionville Road had an Average Daily Traffic (AADT) count of 16,148 in 2023.  

48

Item 5b.



 
Road Improvements: According to the FY 2024-2027 Transportation 
Improvement Program and the Dougherty Area Regional Transportation 
Study 2045, no state or federally funded projects are proposed for the area. 
 
Road Classifications: Streets that provide access to the subject property are 
classified accordingly:  
 

• Gillionville Road is classified as an Urban Minor Arterial. 
 
Public Transit Routes: Albany Transit System's Route 6/Gray/Darton and the Ram 
Rush-West Campus have multiple stops within the area.  
 
Accident Information: Planning Staff have run accident reports to provide data for 
the immediate area. Reports indicate thirty-two non-life-threatening accidents in the 
area since 2022.  
 
Proposed Driveway/Parking Plan: Customer parking will be located in the front of 
the building and accessed from Gillionville Road.  
 
Analysis: Staff finds there should be no significant adverse impact on the surrounding 
transportation network anticipated due to the proposed use at this time.  
 
5.  Is the rezoning proposal in conformity with the policy and intent of the Albany-

Dougherty Comprehensive Plan for Development (2026)?  
 
Yes. The Future Land Use recommends Commercial uses for this area. The 
proposed C-3 rezoning will conform to the General Plan Designation by allowing 
additional commercial uses.  
 

6.  Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and development 
of the property that provide grounds for approval or disapproval of the rezoning 
proposal as submitted? 

 
The subject property is located within the C-1 District. Staff has not identified 
further changing conditions affecting the use and development of the property that 
provide grounds for approval or disapproval of the rezoning proposal as submitted. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends approval to rezone 2 acres from C-1 (Neighborhood Mixed-Use 
Business District) to C-3 (Commercial District) 

49

Item 5b.



50

Item 5b.



51

Item 5b.



52

Item 5b.



53

Item 5b.



54

Item 5b.



55

Item 5b.



56

Item 5b.



57

Item 5b.



58

Item 5b.



59

Item 5b.



60

Item 5b.



61

Item 5b.



62

Item 5b.



63

Item 5b.



64

Item 5b.



65

Item 5b.



66

Item 5b.



67

Item 5b.



68

Item 5b.



69

Item 5b.



70

Item 5b.



71

Item 5b.



72

Item 5b.



      Barry Brooks 
                              Assistant County Administrator 

 

 

 

 

                                                        

 DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

                                ADMINISTRATION 

        

 

 Agenda Item 
   

 
222 PINE AVENUE | SUITE 540 | ALBANY, GEORGIA 31701 | 229.431.2121 | dougherty.ga.us 

 

Date:   October 3, 2023 

 

Meeting Date:             October 9, 2023  

 

Subject/Title:  Animal Control Vehicle  

 

Presented for:  Decision 

 

Presenter:                   Barry Brooks 

 

Statement of Issue 

Dougherty County Police Department needs to purchase an Animal Control Vehicle. 

 

History/Facts and Issues  

Dougherty County Police Department is requesting to purchase a 2016 Ford F250 Animal 

Control Vehicle from Shumate Truck Center (Tampa, FL) in the amount of $45,800. This truck 

will be used as a back up when the new truck arrives approximately May 2024.   

 

The Animal Control Truck currently being utilized has posed Risk Management concerns and 

our advisors have recommended acquiring another vehicle.  The length of time for delivery of 

the animal control vehicle purchase is unsustainable. The Ford F-350 Animal Control Vehicle 

was approved and ordered July 2021.  Due to the pandemic and supply shortage, there was a 

delay in the awarded vendor, Wade Ford (Smyrna, GA) receiving the truck.  We were notified 

by the representative that the contracted company for the installation of the animal control box 

will not be able to complete the work until early 2024. 

 

Recommended Action 

Recommend Dougherty County Commission approve the purchase of a 2016 Ford F250 

Animal Control Vehicle for DCP for $45,800 from Shumate Truck Center. 

 

Funding Source 

Contingency  

73

Item 6a.



74

Item 7a.



75

Item 7a.



76

Item 7a.



77

Item 7a.



 

Page 1 of 7 

 
STATE OF GEORGIA                Lease # 6227 
COUNTY OF FULTON 
 

RENTAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE 

             COUNTY OF DOUGHERTY 
AND 

STATE PROPERTIES COMMISSION 
 
 

This RENTAL AGREEMENT (hereinafter “Agreement”) is made and entered into this ____ day 

of __________________, 20____, by and between COUNTY OF DOUGHERTY (hereinafter 

“Landlord”), whose address is 222 Pine Avenue Room #540, Albany, Georgia, 31701, the STATE 

PROPERTIES COMMISSION (hereinafter “Tenant”), whose address is 270 Washington Street, Suite 2-

129, Atlanta, Georgia 30334, on behalf of DEPARTMENT OF DRIVER SERVICES (“Occupying 

Agency”), whose address is 2206 Eastview Parkway, Conyers, Georgia 30013.  The Landlord, Tenant, and 

Occupying Agency shall collectively be referred to as the “Parties.” 

1. PREMISES 

Landlord hereby rents to Tenant, and Tenant hereby takes and rents from the Landlord, on behalf 

of the Occupying Agency, 4,555 square feet of office space located at 2062 Newton Rd. Albany, Georgia 

31701 (hereinafter the “Premises”). The Premises are more clearly identified on the drawing attached hereto 

as “Exhibit A” and incorporated herein by reference.  

2. RENT/UTILITIES 

(a) In consideration for providing the Premises and the Occupying Agency’s provision of services 

to Landlord’s citizens, Tenant shall cause the Occupying Agency to pay Five Hundred Four Dollars and 

Eighty-Four Cents ($504.84) per month to Landlord for occupying the Premises (hereinafter “Rent”).    

(b) Tenant shall cause the Occupying Agency to maintain accounts in its name, and pay directly to 

the providers thereof, the utilities used by the Occupying Agency to service the Premises including 

electrical, gas, water, or sewer service, and telecommunication services.  Landlord shall be responsible for 

providing all other utilities to service the Premises including trash removal and any other expenses. 

3. USE OF PREMISES 

Landlord and Occupying Agency agree the Premises shall be used solely for the purpose of carrying 

out the Occupying Agency’s day-to-day services, and the Premises shall only be occupied during 

Landlord’s normal operating hours. 

78

Item 7b.



 

Page 2 of 7 

 

4. TERM 

This Agreement shall be for an initial term commencing on December 15, 2023 and ending on June 

30, 2024, (hereinafter the “Initial Term”) unless the Agreement is terminated during the Initial Term or 

Renewal Term period.  If Tenant or Occupying Agency is not in default on any of its obligations hereunder, 

the Tenant shall be permitted to extend this Agreement for eight (8) successive, one (1) year, renewal 

periods (hereinafter “Renewal Terms”), provided that Tenant’s written notice of its election to exercise its 

renewal option shall be given to Landlord either forty-five (45) days prior to the expiration of the of the 

Initial Term or then current Renewal Term  or five (5) days after the Governor signs the annual general 

appropriations bill, whichever occurs later, but in no case shall Tenant’s notice be given to Landlord later 

than the day prior to the commencement date of the Renewal Term. The Renewal Term shall begin upon 

expiration of the Initial Term or then current Renewal Term. All of the terms, covenants and provisions of 

this Agreement shall be applicable for any effective Renewal Term.  The Initial Term and all effective 

Renewal Terms are collectively referred to as the “Term.” 

 

5. REPAIRS 

During the Term, Landlord at its sole cost and expense, shall be responsible for servicing, replacing, 

keeping and maintaining, in good order and repair, all aspects of the Premises, except that Tenant shall 

reimburse Landlord upon demand for reasonable costs of replacements, maintenance, or repairs 

necessitated by the willful misconduct of Tenant.  Services, replacements, or repairs made by the Tenant or 

its Occupying Agency to the Premises, shall not be construed as a waiver of Landlord’s obligation under 

this provision.   

6. JANITORIAL SERVICES  

Tenant shall furnish and pay for all janitorial services for the Premises. 

7. INSURANCE 

 Neither Tenant nor Occupying Agency shall use the Premises for any purpose other than that stated 

in “Paragraph 3” hereof.  The Tenant and Occupying Agency are prohibited from any use of the Premises 

or acts on the Premises that may cause a cancellation of, or an increase in the existing rate of fire, casualty 

and other extended insurance coverage insuring the Premises.  Tenant and Occupying Agency further agree 

not to sell, or permit to be kept for use on the Premises, any article(s) which may be prohibited by the 

standard form of fire insurance policies.  Throughout the Term of this Agreement, Tenant shall cause the 

79

Item 7b.



 

Page 3 of 7 

Occupying Agency to maintain an insurance policy or, through a program of self-insurance, insurance 

coverage for Occupying Agency’s fixtures, furnishings, equipment and personal property located in the 

Premises. Occupying Agency shall carry a policy with an amount not less than full replacement cost against 

loss or damage by fire and all other casualties and risks. 

8. CANCELLATION FOR CONVENIENCE 

The Parties reserve the right to cancel this Agreement for convenience by giving at least one 

hundred twenty (120) days prior written notice of such cancellation to the non-cancelling Parties. 

9. ABANDONMENT 

The Parties agree that this Agreement will terminate, and the Premises will revert to the Landlord, 

in the event that the Premises are abandoned by the Tenant or the Occupying Agency.   

10. REMOVAL OF FIXTURES 

At any time before the expiration, or earlier termination, of this Agreement, or upon a reasonable 

time thereafter, either Tenant or Occupying Agency shall have the right and privilege to remove all fixtures, 

furnishings, equipment, and personal property either Tenant or Occupying Agency has placed in or upon 

the Premises. 

11. NOTICES 

All notices, requests, demands and other communications provided for hereunder shall be in 

writing, mailed by first class United States certified mail, return receipt requested, delivered by overnight 

carrier (such as, but not limited to, UPS or Federal Express), or personally delivered to the applicable party 

at the addresses as stipulated in “Paragraph 1”, or at such other address as a party may designate. All parties 

reserve the right, by written notice, to  name a different person or title, and to change the address where 

notices shall be given. 

12. SURRENDER OF PREMISES 

In the event of cancellation or early termination of this Agreement, the Tenant shall cause the 

Occupying Agency to surrender the Premises to Landlord in good order and condition; ordinary wear and 

tear, damage by fire, acts of God, the elements, other casualties, condemnation and/or appropriation, and 

damage or defects arising from the negligence or default of Landlord are excepted. 

13. ENTRY FOR INSPECTION BY LANDLORD 

The Tenant and Occupying Agency shall permit the Landlord, its agents or employees, to enter into 

and upon the Premises at all reasonable times for the purpose of inspecting the Premises or for the purpose 

80

Item 7b.



 

Page 4 of 7 

of maintaining or making repairs, alterations, or additions to necessary portion of the Premises.  The 

Landlord’s entry shall not unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s or Occupying Agency’s business functions. 

14. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING OF PREMISES BY THE TENANT 

Landlord recognizes and acknowledges that (I) Tenant is Public Body Corporate and Politic created 

within the Executive Branch of the State Government of Georgia By O.C.G.A. § 50-16-32; (II) Tenant’s 

duties include the management of the utilization of administrative space [as defined by O.C.G.A. § 50-16-

31(1.1)] in the manners permitted by O.C.G.A. § 50-16-31 et seq.; (III) pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 50-16-41, 

the management of the utilization of administrative space by Tenant shall include Tenant entering into any 

necessary agreements to rent or lease administrative space and then subsequently subletting such space to 

an Occupying Agency (as hereinafter defined) requiring the space.  Accordingly, Landlord further 

recognizes and acknowledges, and does hereby consent to Tenant’s sublet of the premises, or any portion 

thereof, as well as the assignment of this Agreement, to an Occupying Agency without obtaining Landlord’s 

consent, so long as Tenant gives Landlord prior written notice.  For purposes here, an “Occupying Agency” 

means:  (I) an Agency, Department, Commission, Board, Public Body Corporate and Politic, or Bureau of 

the State of Georgia, and (II) any other entity as permitted by State Law.  Any Occupying Agency shall 

have the right, at its election, to cure any default by Tenant under this Agreement.  Landlord shall 

immediately provide Tenant with copies of all correspondence sent by Landlord to an Occupying Agency 

(or to any other Subtenant) and copies of all correspondence received by Landlord from an Occupying 

Agency (or from any other Subtenant).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord acknowledges and agrees 

that the Occupying Agency shall not be an agent of Tenant and shall not have actual, constructive or 

apparent authority to amend or otherwise modify the terms of this Agreement or to otherwise bind Tenant. 

15. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, including any attached exhibits, embodies and sets forth all the provisions, 

agreements, conditions, covenants, terms and understandings between the parties relative to the Premises.  

No subsequent alteration, amendment, change or addition to this Agreement shall be binding upon the 

parties herein unless reduced to writing and signed by all the parties to this Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have hereunto signed, sealed and delivered this Agreement 

in duplicate original on the day, month and year first above written, each of the Parties keeping one of the 

duplicate originals.  

 

(Signatures begin on next page and remainder of page is intentionally blank) 

  

81

Item 7b.



 

Page 5 of 7 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered 
as to Landlord in the presence of: 
 
__________________________________ 
Unofficial Witness 
 
__________________________________ 
Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
 
(Affix and Impress  
Notary Public Seal Here) 
 

LANDLORD: 

COUNTY OF DOUGHERTY 

 

By:  __________________________________ 

Name: ________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________ 
 
 
 

Attest: ________________________________ 

Name: ________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________ 
 

 
  

82

Item 7b.



 

Page 6 of 7 

 
 
 
 
 
Signed, sealed and delivered 
as to Tenant in the presence of: 
 
__________________________________ 
Unofficial Witness 
 
__________________________________ 
Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
 
(Affix and Impress  
Notary Public Seal Here) 
 

TENANT: 

STATE PROPERTIES COMMISSION 

 

By:  __________________________________ 

Name: ________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed, sealed and delivered 
as to Occupying Agency in the presence of: 
 
__________________________________ 
Unofficial Witness 
 
__________________________________ 
Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
 
(Affix and Impress  
Notary Public Seal Here) 

OCCUPYING AGENCY: 

DEPARTMENT OF DRIVER SERVICES 

 

By:  __________________________________ 

Name: ________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________ 
 

 
 

  

83

Item 7b.



 

Page 7 of 7 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
[Floor Plans] 

 

 

84

Item 7b.



85

Item 7c.


	Top
	Item 3a.	Minutes
	2023.09.18 Minutes Regular
	2023.09.25 Minutes Work

	Item 4b.	Delegation b_Trails
	2023.10.04_Delegation b_ASU Trail Update

	Item 4c.	Delegation c_Vegetation Control
	2023.10.04_Delegation c1_ Vegetation Control
	2023.10.04_Delegation c2_ Vegetation Control - Current

	Item 5a.	Zoning a_King Randall
	Zoning a_23-053 - 2901 Barnaby Dr (Rezoning) - Recap
	Zoning a_23-053 - 2901 Barnaby Dr (Rezoning) - Staff Report

	Item 5b.	Zoning b_Orchard Machinery
	Zoning b_23-064 - 2824 Gillionville Rd (Rezoning) - Recap
	Zoning b_23-064 - 2824 Gillionville Rd (Rezoning) - Staff Report

	Item 6a.	Purchase a_Animal Control Truck
	Purchase a_ Animal Control Truck

	Item 7a.	Other a_Alcohol License_TWilliams
	Other a_Alcohol License

	Item 7b.	Other b_Driver Services Lease
	Other b_Driver Services Lease

	Item 7c.	Other c_EMS Trauma Grant
	Other C_EMS Grant

	Bottom

